
Page 1 

2.27.25 PB Minutes.docx 

MAYWOOD PLANNING BOARD 

MINUTES 

February 27, 2025 

 

A regular meeting of the Maywood Planning Board was held on Thursday, February 27, 2025 in the 

Council Chambers of the Maywood Municipal Building, 15 Park Avenue, Maywood, New Jersey at 

7pm.  “This Meeting was called pursuant to the provisions of the Open Public Meetings Act.  Notice of 

this meeting was published in the Our Town and The Record newspapers on or about December 12, 

2024.  In addition, copies of this notice were posted on the bulletin board in the Maywood Municipal 

Building at 15 Park Avenue, filed with the Borough Clerk and distributed to all persons, if any, 

requesting copies of same pursuant to said act.  This meeting is being recorded with both audio and 

video and may be rebroadcast.  This meeting is a judicial proceeding, any questions or comments must 

be limited to the issues that are relevant to what the Board may legally consider in reaching a decision 

and decorum appropriate to a judicial hearing must be maintained at all times.” 

 

Flag Salute 

 

Call to Order 

The meeting was called to order at 7:01pm with the following members present: 

Mayor’s Designee Jacqueline DeMuro 

Councilperson Douglas Herrick 

Chairperson Charlotte Panny 

Vice Chairperson Anthony Klymenko 

Cynthia Petersen 

Harry Hillenius 

Thomas Lindenau 

Felicia Benson-Kraft 

Thomas Anzevino 

Board Attorney John Ferraro 

Board Engineer & Board Planner Gregory Polyniak 

COAH Planner Michael Kauker 

Borough Fair Share Housing Counsel Patrick McNamara 

 

Approval of Minutes  None 

 

Bills 

Cynthia Petersen made a motion to accept payment of the bills.  Thomas Lindenau seconded the motion.  

All eligible members present voted in favor of the motion. 

 

Correspondence 

1. 2/6/25 letter from Board Engineer Gregory Polyniak Re: Marcin Ferenc 19 West Central Avenue 

Completeness, Planning & Engineering Review 

2. 2/6/25 letter from Board Recording Secretary Tara Grunstra Re: Marcin Ferenc 19 West Central 

Avenue Hearing Date 3/27/25 

3. 2/10/25 letter from Board Engineer Gregory Polyniak Re: Filip Kristani 44 Parkway 

Completeness & Engineering Review 

4. 2/14/25 letter from Board Planner Gregory Polyniak Re: Floor Area Ratio Ordinances #8-24 and 

#9-24 Revised Review 



Page 2 

2.27.25 PB Minutes.docx 

5. 2/25/25 letter from Board Recording Secretary Tara Grunstra Re: Acct #9807 Bryan Goldsman 

157 Thoma Avenue Escrow Shortage 

6. 2/25/25 letter from Board Engineer Gregory Polyniak Re: SHDK, LLC 24-30 West Pleasant 

Avenue As-Built Review 

 

Resolution Megaleaf 

231 West Passaic Street 

Block 86, Lot 21 

Calendar #2024-06 

Site Plan Application 

 

Councilperson Douglas Herrick made a motion to memorialize the resolution. 

Felicia Benson-Kraft seconded the motion. 

All eligible members voted in favor of the motion. 

 

Public Hearing Investigation for Determination as Redevelopment  

 Area, With Condemnation 

Block 69 Lots 3, 4, 5 & 13 

Block 86, Lots 17 & 18 

 

COAH Planner Michael D. Kauker was sworn in, qualified and accepted.  He explained that the purpose 

of the investigation was to evaluate whether this area meets the statutory criteria with condemnation 

powers established in the Local Redevelopment and Housing Law.  He stated that an area may be 

determined to be in need of redevelopment with condemnation if it has at least one of the eight 

conditions.  He said the study area consists of 6 properties all owned by Russell P. Trocano Enterprises, 

LLC.  He detailed the size and existing conditions of each of the properties.  He then listed the steps that 

were taken to prepare the report such as field visits, environmental assessments and an economic 

analysis based on tax records and property values.  Based on this research, COAH Planner Kauker 

summarized the following findings: 

• Current building and property conditions all were generally fair to poor (Criteria A) 

• Buildings and properties were extremely aged and obsolescent both in design and function 

(Criteria A & D) 

• Land that has remained vacant for several years prior to the adoption of the resolution (Criteria 

C) 

• Stagnant and unproductive use due to the ratio of the assessed value of the improvements on the 

property to the value of the land.  The existing uses of the property do not represent the highest 

and best use of the property (Criteria E) 

• The designation of the delineated area is consistent with smart growth planning principles 

(Criteria H) 

Specifically, he detailed how each property meets the various criteria: 

• Site 1 – Block 69, Lot 3 meets Criteria E and H 

• Site 2 – Block 69, Lot 4 meets Criteria E and H 

• Site 3 – Block 69, Lot 5 meets Criteria B, C, E and H 

• Site 4 – Block 69, Lot 13 meets Criteria B, C, E and H 

• Site 5 – Block 86, Lot 17 meets Criteria A, B, D, E and H 

• Site 6 – Block 86, Lot 18 meets Criteria E and H 



Page 3 

2.27.25 PB Minutes.docx 

He summarized his testimony by explaining that the properties meet the statutory criteria as contained in 

the statute of the Local Redevelopment and Housing Law.  He said that believed that the evidence 

supports the use of eminent domain to facilitate the assemblage of the properties and promote 

comprehensive redevelopment.  He stated that whatever would be developed on these properties would 

be utilized to address a portion of the Borough's obligation of the Round 4 Affordable Housing Plan. 

 

Board Attorney John Ferraro invited the Board to ask questions of COAH Planner Kauker.  Chairperson 

Charlotte Panny asked about the importance of conforming with smart growth in the Area 1 

Metropolitan Planning District.  COAH Planner Kauker answered that the State Redevelopment and 

Development Plan breaks the state down different planning areas and Planning Area 1 would be the area 

where they intend for growth to be focused.  He added that the State Development and Redevelopment 

Plan contains smart growth language meaning focused development and redevelopment in established 

areas in Planning Area 1 which was one of the criteria that was utilized to meet the statutory criteria for 

an area in need of redevelopment.  Cynthia Petersen confirmed that the redevelopment would be used to 

satisfy the Round 4 COAH requirements.  COAH Planner Kauker noted that the area was rezoned for 

Townhouse use.  Borough Fair Share Counsel Patrick McNamara said that 3 townhouse zones were 

added as part of compliance in the Housing Element and Fair Share Plan which will need to be updated 

this year.  He added that the Borough has not had the initial filing challenged by the New Jersey Builder 

Association.  Ms. Petersen stated that there is not much more undeveloped land in Maywood and said 

that she was concerned about how the Borough would satisfy future affordable housing obligations.  

Borough Fair Share Counsel McNamara explained that they would consider more overlay zones to 

provide a reasonable opportunity for the creation of affordable housing development.  He then advised 

the Board of the timeline to provide an updated Housing Element and Fair Share Plan. 

 

Chairperson Panny invited the public to ask questions or comment but no one came forward.  She then 

began to advise the Board on what was being voted on but was interrupted by Russell Trocano who 

asked to be heard.  He said that his hearing public notice was for 7:30pm but Board Recording Secretary 

Grunstra said the notice that she published had the 7pm start time.  Chairperson Panny made a motion to 

reopen the meeting to the public and Vice Chairperson Anthony Klymenko seconded the motion.  All 

eligible members present voted in favor of the motion.  Mr. Trocano said that his family has owned the 

property since 1961 and ran a wholesale landscape nursery there until it closed in 2016.  He requested 

additional time since he was seeking alternate counsel and confirmed that he was no longer represented 

by Winne Banta or his planner Joseph Burgis.  He said that three of the properties were rented and the 

taxes on all the properties were paid.  Chairperson Panny said that the Mayor and Council were 

expecting a decision.  She added that the ultimate decision regarding the Area in Need of 

Redevelopment resides with them.  Board Attorney Ferraro advised that the hearing has been adjourned 

3 times at the request of Mr. Trocano.  He advised that that Board could decide to proceed or adjourn.  

Mayor’s Designee Jacqueline DeMuro made a motion to adjourn the hearing and Cynthia Petersen 

seconded the motion.  Two members voted in favor of the motion while 7 members voted against it. 

 

Chairperson Panny began to advise the Board to vote on all the properties at once but was corrected by 

Borough Fair Share Counsel McNamara that each parcel most be voted on individually.  Councilperson 

Douglas Herrick clarified that each property only needs to meet one of the criteria to be designated as an 

Area in Need of Redevelopment although all the properties in question meet multiple criteria. 

 

Site 1-Block 69, Lot 3 

Tom Anzevino made a motion to determine Block 69, Lot 3 as an area in need of redevelopment with 

condemnation per the statute under Criteria E and H. 



Page 4 

2.27.25 PB Minutes.docx 

Thomas Lindenau seconded the motion. 

All eligible members present voted in favor of the motion. 

 

Site 2-Block 69, Lot 4 

Harry Hillenius made a motion to determine Block 69, Lot 4 as an area in need of redevelopment with 

condemnation per the statute under Criteria E and H. 

Chairperson Charlotte Panny seconded the motion. 

All eligible members present voted in favor of the motion. 

 

Site 3-Block 69, Lot 5 

Councilperson Douglas Herrick made a motion to determine Block 69, Lot 5 as an area in need of 

redevelopment with condemnation per the statute under Criteria B, C, E and H. 

Felicia Benson-Kraft seconded the motion. 

All eligible members present voted in favor of the motion. 

 

Site 4-Block 69, Lot 13 

Councilperson Douglas Herrick made a motion to determine Block 69, Lot 13 as an area in need of 

redevelopment with condemnation per the statute under Criteria B, C, E and H. 

Felicia Benson-Kraft seconded the motion. 

All eligible members present voted in favor of the motion. 

 

Site 5-Block 86, Lot 17 

Chairperson Panny made a motion to determine Block 86, Lot 17 as an area in need of redevelopment 

with condemnation per the statute under Criteria A, B, D, E and H. 

Councilperson Douglas Herrick seconded the motion. 

All eligible members present voted in favor of the motion. 

 

Site 6-Block 86, Lot 18 

Thomas Lindenau made a motion to determine Block 86, Lot 18 as an area in need of redevelopment 

with condemnation per the statute under Criteria E and H. 

Felicia Benson-Kraft seconded the motion. 

All eligible members present voted in favor of the motion. 

 

Completeness Hearing None 

 

Application Hearing Filip Kristani 

44 Parkway 

Block 62, Lot 4 

Calendar #2023-11 

Variance Application 

1-Minimum Front Yard Setback (25’ required vs. 19.5’ proposed) 

2-Maximum Lot Coverage (30% permitted vs. 30.80% proposed) 

 

Applicant Filip Kristani and Board Engineer/Planner Greg Polyniak were sworn in.  Chairperson Panny 

confirmed that the latest architectural plan provided were revised on 2/3/25.   

 

Mayor’s Designee DeMuro was not eligible to vote on the application so she stepped down from the 

dais at 7:45pm. 



Page 5 

2.27.25 PB Minutes.docx 

Mr. Kristani summarized the variances that he was seeking.  He reminded the Board that his architect 

omitted the portico dimensions on the plans submitted to the Building Department which were 

approved.  He said that he had been before the Board several times regarding this issue.  He stated that 

he has no additional testimony and requested that the Board vote to approve the variances. 

 

Board Engineer/Planner Greg Polyniak advised the Board of the planning proofs needed to approve bulk 

variances.  Specifically, he noted the difference between the C(1) bulk variance and the C(2) bulk 

variance.  He said that the application does not qualify for the C(1) variance as there is no hardship 

related to the topography or the shape of the property as the property is a mostly flat and rectangularly 

shaped.  As such, he explained that the application would need to qualify for a C(2) variance which 

means that the granting the variance would either: 

• Advance the purposes of the Municipal Land Use Law (MLUL) 

• The benefits to the public good/neighborhood would substantially outweigh the detriments to the 

public good/neighborhood 

• Not cause substantial detriment to the zoning ordinance and master plan. 

He then invited the Board to ask questions of him.  Chairperson Panny confirmed that his latest review 

dated 2/10/25 was still accurate.  Board Engineer/Planner Polyniak reminded the Board that one of the 

conditions of approval was to televise the sanitary lateral.  He added that he had concerns regarding 

maneuvering of vehicles in and out of the garage.  He said that Mr. Kristani’s architect provided 2 

turning templates for 2 different sized vehicles; 15’ vehicle and 19’ vehicle.  Per the turning templates, 

he said that the 15’ vehicle could maneuver in and out of the garage successfully.  He reminded the 

Board that Mr. Kristani said that those vehicles would be the size that he would store in his garage.  

Board Engineer/Planner Polyniak stated that with a larger SUV, Mr. Kristani would have substantial 

issues parking those sized vehicle in the 2 outer garage bays.  He said that he would be concerned that 

the green belt would be driven over and create a property maintenance issue.  Should that become an 

issue, he suggested a condition of approval that one of the garage bays be eliminated.  Chairperson 

Panny asked about backing out of the driveway given the location of the stop sign.  Board 

Engineer/Planner Polyniak drove by the subject property that evening and said that there should be 

sufficient sight distance backing out of the driveway.  Councilperson Douglas Herrick confirmed that 

the most recent architectural plans show the scaled back portico.  Chairperson Panny asked for 

additional clarification on the C(2) variance and Board Engineer/Planner Polyniak explained it must be a 

C(2) variance as there was no hardship justification for the C(1) variance. 

 

Chairperson Panny invited the public to comment on the application. 

 

Scott Raymond of 8 Cottage Place in Hillsdale owns 624 Palmer Avenue which is next door to the 

subject property.  He thanked Board Engineer/Planner Polyniak for the explanation of the C(1) and C(2) 

variance proofs.  Mr. Raymond said that the application has been going on for 3 years.  He stated that he 

was on the Land Use Board in Hillsdale and has had experience with residents asking for forgiveness 

instead of permission.  He said that the Applicant has not compromised nor tried to bring the building 

into compliance.  He said that the front yard setback variance was too great but the lot coverage was not.  

He confirmed that the proposed deck was not included in the lot coverage calculation provided by the 

Applicant.  He questioned why the deck had not been built.  He asked how far from the property line the 

deck could be built.  Board Engineer/Planner Polyniak said that the deck location would be subject to 

the setback requirements.  Mr. Raymond inquired why the two stormwater tanks that were installed have 

not been connected.  Board Engineer/Planner Polyniak couldn’t provide an answer but noted that 

construction has not been completed.  He added that the Applicant would be required to connect the 

tanks before the dwelling could be occupied.  Mr. Raymond said that the variances would stay with the 



Page 6 

2.27.25 PB Minutes.docx 

property and asked how the requirement of smaller cars in the two outer garage bays would be enforced 

for future property owners.  Board Engineer/Planner Polyniak said that he recommended that a condition 

be included in the resolution as it relates to the use of those eastern and western garage bays.  He agreed 

that it would be an enforcement issue.  Mr. Raymond confirmed that the impervious coverage complied 

with the Borough code.  Regarding the fencing, he inquired if there was a Borough code for fence height 

stepdown as it approaches front yard.  Board Engineer/Planner Polyniak answered that the fence would 

be not be permitted to be 6’ in the front yard setback and the subject property would be considered to 

have 2 front yards as a corner property.  Mr. Raymond questioned if the Applicant had provided 

testimony regarding the positive and negative criteria of granting the variances.  Board Engineer/Planner 

Polyniak replied that the Applicant had not provided any planning testimony. 

 

Jeff Issacs of 624 Palmer Avenue asked if a landscape plan would be provided and said that all the trees 

were cut down.  He then inquired if the front stairs were included in the coverage calculation.  Board 

Engineer/Planner Polyniak answered that the covered portico was included in the coverage calculation 

but not the stairs themselves.  Mr. Issacs asked if the PVC piping from the garage sump pump would be 

connected to the drywells.  Board Engineer/Planner Polyniak replied that the piping would need to be 

connected to the seepage pit system.  He added that he observed the roof leaders were discharging to 

grade.  Mr. Issacs said that he noticed that rain gutters and leaders were installed on the portico.  He 

asked if the air conditioning pad was included in the building coverage calculation.  Board 

Engineer/Planner Polyniak advised that the air conditioning pad was included in the lot coverage 

calculation but not the building coverage.  Mr. Issacs again asked about the landscape plan.  Chairperson 

Panny inquired if the trees that were cut down were in the Borough greenbelt.  Mr. Issacs said that Mr. 

Kristani told him that he received approval from the Shade Tree Commission to remove the tree but Mr. 

Issacs was unable to confirm this.  Councilperson Herrick advised that tree removal was under the 

purview of the Shade Tree Commission.  He asked about the fence height along his driveway as he is 

concerned about sight lines.  Board Engineer/Planner Polyniak explained that the fence cannot remain 6’ 

to the street line.  He further stated that the fence must be lowered 10’ from the curbline to allow for 

proper sight lines.  Mr. Issacs said that he had observed flooding in that intersection after a heavy rain 

and asked if the area had been studied.  Board Engineer/Planner Polyniak said that the stormwater 

drainage improvements proposed by Mr. Kristani were satisfactory for the runoff on his property and he 

would not be required to address the right-of-way. 

 

Gary Gastelu of 34 Parkway next door to the subject property asked why there was so many hearings for 

this application.  Chairperson Panny advised that the Applicant submitted revised plans to the Board 

without giving the Board sufficient time to review them and the hearings were adjourned.  Mr. Gastelu 

said that the house looked good. 

 

Chairperson Panny asked if the Board was prepared to make a motion on the application.  Thomas 

Anzevino made a motion to approve the application and Councilperson Douglas Herrick seconded the 

motion.  All eligible members present voted against the motion except for Thomas Anzevino.  Cynthia 

Petersen made a motion to deny the application and Harry Hillenius seconded the motion.  All eligible 

members present voted in favor of the motion except for Thomas Anzevino. 

 

Mr. Raymond thanked the Board for their time. 

 

Mayor’s Designee DeMuro rejoined the dais at 8:16pm. 

 

  



Page 7 

2.27.25 PB Minutes.docx 

Informal Hearing None 

 

Closed Session None 

 

Old Business 

• Borough Ordinances #8-24 and #9-24 

o Mayor’s Designee DeMuro and Councilperson Herrick recused themselves  

o Board Engineer/Planner Polyniak revised his review of the Borough Floor Area Ratio (FAR) 

ordinances and issued a new report on 2/14/25 

o He summarized his review noting the definitions and calculations related to the Floor Area 

Ratio (FAR) per the feedback from the Board 

▪ He stated that properties were grouped together by size: 

• 4,500 square feet or less having a maximum FAR of 60% 

• 4,501-6,000 square feet having a maximum FAR of 55% 

• 6,001 square feet or more having a maximum FAR of 50% 

o He explained that the FAR percentages allow for a reasonably sized dwelling 

while satisfying coverage and setback requirements 

o Chairperson Panny confirmed that the number of properties in each size category was 

considered as part of the analysis 

o Harry Hillenius and Board Engineer/Planner Polyniak discussed how ceiling height would 

impact the FAR calculation 

o Thomas Lindenau made a motion to forward the FAR ordinance review to the Mayor and 

Council and Thomas Anzevino seconded the motion 

▪ All eligible members present voted in favor of the motion 

o Mayor’s Designee DeMuro and Councilperson Herrick rejoined the meeting 

 

New Business 

• Distribution of revised architectural plans for #2023-11 Filip Kristani 44 Parkway Variance 

Application 

• Distribution of Calendar #2025-02 Optum Medical Care of NJ 1 Maywood Avenue Variance & 

Site Plan Application 

• Distribution of Calendar #2025-03 Unity Road 105 Essex Street Variance & Site Plan 

Application 

• Cancellation of 3/6/25 Planning Board Meeting 

o Harry Hillenius made a motion to cancel the 3/6/25 meeting and Chairperson Panny 

seconded the motion 

▪ All eligible members present voted in favor of the motion 

 

Open Meeting to the Public 

 

Adjournment 

A motion to adjourn the meeting was made by Harry Hillenius.  Felicia Benson-Kraft seconded the 

motion.  All eligible members present voted in favor of the motion.  The meeting was adjourned at 

8:26pm. 

 

  



Page 8 

2.27.25 PB Minutes.docx 

Respectfully submitted, 

 

 

 

Tara Grunstra 

Planning Board Recording Secretary 


